Public Document Pack

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Thursday, 10th February, 2022
at 1.30 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
E Nash
N Sharpe
M Midgley
B Anderson
G Almass
E Flint
C Gruen (Chair)
A Lamb
R. Stephenson
Please Note: Members of the public are now able to attend the meeting in person, but
please be mindful that Coronavirus infection levels remain high in Leeds. Therefore, even
if you have had the vaccine, if you have Coronavirus symptoms: a high temperature; a
new, continuous cough; or a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, you should
NOT attend the meeting, stay at home and take a PCR test. For those who are attending
the meeting we would recommend taking an LFT prior to attending and recommend the
continued wearing of face coverings.
Note to observers of the meeting. To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement
of the meeting.
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=949&MId=11424&Ver=4

Agenda compiled by:
Debbie Oldham
Governance Services
Civic Hall
Produced on Recycled Paper

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and
public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3

If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:-

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS

3

To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)
DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

4

To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

5

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS

MINUTES - 9TH DECEMBER 2021

6

9 - 12

To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 9th
December 2021, for approval as a correct record.
7

Chapel
Allerton

21/06408/FU - SINGLE STOREY REAR
EXTENSION AT 532 - 534 SCOTT HALL ROAD,
LEEDS, LS7 3RA.
To receive the report of the Chief Planning Officer
for a single storey rear extension at 532 - 534 Scott
Hall Road, Leeds, LS7 3RA.
(Report attached)

13 24

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEAL DECISION SUMMARY - 19/04950/FU DEVELOPMENT OF 58 NO. APARTMENTS FOR
RETIREMENT/LIFESTYLE LIVING
EXCLUSIVELY FOR RESIDENTS OF AGE 55+,
ASSOCIATED COMMUNAL SPACES, ACCESS
FROM GROVE LANE AND NEW
LANDSCAPING, LAND ADJ. GROVE PARK
CARE HOME, GROVE LANE, MEANWOOD,
LEEDS, LS6 2BG.

8

25 46

The Chief Planning Officer report provides
Members with information in relation to an Appeal
Decision Summary - 19/04950/FU - Development
of 58 No.
apartments for retirement/lifestyle living exclusively
for residents of age 55+,
associated communal spaces, access from Grove
Lane and new Landscaping, Land Adj. Grove Park
Care Home, Grove Lane, Meanwood, Leeds, LS6
2BG.
(Report attached)
9

Garforth and
Swillington

10.4(1,
2)

SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION AT THE
LODGE, NEWSAM GREEN ROAD, NEWSAM
GREEN, LS26 8AG
To consider the report of the Chief Planning Officer
for an application for a single storey side extension
at The Lodge, Newsam Green Road, Newsam
Green, LS26 8AG
Please note that Appendix 1 to this report is
designated as confidential under the provision of
Access to Information Procedure Rule 9.2

10

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting of North and East Plans Panel is
scheduled for Thursday 10th March 2022 at
1:30pm.

2

47 66

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

a)
b)

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and
to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this
agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a)
b)

Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title.
Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete.

Page
No

This page is intentionally left blank

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS
The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in terms of
Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers stated in the agenda
and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:
9.0
9.1

Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information would be
disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, and minutes will also be
excluded.

9.2

Confidential information means
(a)
information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which forbid its
public disclosure or
(b)
information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another Act or by
Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an individual, must not be
disclosed under the data protection and human rights rules.

10.0
10. 1

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the business
to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed
provided:
(a)
the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the proceedings
or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b)
that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the Local
Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the exempt information
giving rise to the exclusion of the public.
(c)
that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or otherwise, in all
the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs
the public interest in disclosing the information.

10.2

In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will also be
excluded.

10.3

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely affect their
possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting
will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article
6.

10. 4

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to any
condition):
1
Information relating to any individual
2
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information).
4
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or
negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising between the authority or
a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-holders under the authority.
5
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in
legal proceedings.
6
Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a)
to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed
on a person; or
(b)
to make an order or direction under any enactment
7
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention,
investigation or prosecution of crime

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
THURSDAY, 9TH DECEMBER, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor J McKenna in the Chair
Councillors E Nash, N Sharpe, M Midgley,
B Anderson, G Almass, E Flint,
R. Stephenson and T Smith

SITE VISIT
The site visit was attended by Cllrs J McKenna, E Flint, N Sharpe, and B
Anderson.
43

Election of Chair
RESOLVED – To elect Cllr McKenna to the Chair for the duration of the
meeting.

44

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals against refusal of inspection of documents.

45

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There were no exempt items.

46

Late Items
There were no late items.

47

Declaration of Interests
No declarations of interests were made at the meeting.

48

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr C Gruen and Cllr A Lamb.
Cllr McKenna was present as substitute for Cllr Gruen and Cllr Smith was
present as substitute for Cllr Lamb.

49

Minutes - 11th November 2021
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 11th November 2021,
be approved as a correct record.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 10th February, 2022

Page 9

50

Application 20/03519/FU and 20/03520/LI - Demolition of the Nave and
Aisles of the church, replaced with a six storey extension; the Chancel,
Transept and Altar areas will be retained and restored to contain 62 no.
apartments. The Presbytery will also be demolished and replaced with a
5 storey apartment block of 113 no. apartments (total residential
development comprising of 175 units); Other works including new
access, proposed EVCP parking, cycle storage and landscaping works
at Mount St Marys Church, Church Road, Richmond Hill, Leeds, LS9 8LA
The report of the Chief Planning Officer presented an application in relation to
demolition of the nave and aisles of the church, replaced with a six storey
extension; the chancel, transept and altar areas will be retained and restored
to contain 62 apartments. The presbytery will also be demolished and
replaced with a five storey apartment block of 113 apartments; other works
including new access, proposed EVCP parking, cycle storage and
landscaping works at Mount St Marys Church, Church Road, Richmond Hill,
Leeds, LS9 8LA.
Members had visited the site earlier in the day. Throughout the officers’
presentation Members were shown slides and photographs.
It was acknowledged that Members had resolved to defer and delegate
approval of the applications to officers, subject to the completion of S106
Agreement at the 18th February 2021 meeting of North and East Plans Panel.
Members were informed that the scheme was now returning to Panel as the
applicant was now seeking greater flexibility in terms of the potential delivery
method to include Build to Rent, as originally reported and now also Build to
Sell. It was noted that this chosen delivery method would have a differing
impact on the scheme’s overall viability compared to that which was
presented to Members in February. Therefore, it was necessary for this
element of the proposal to be presented for consideration.
Members were advised that, in light of this, this report was to focus on the
consideration of the viability appraisal only and how this could impact on
ability to fulfil any planning obligations necessitated by the development
(which will be ensured via the review mechanism). It was noted that there had
been no other changes to material considerations since the proposals were
last reported to Panel, including that the planning context remained the same.
It was recognised that a number of the current Panel Members were not party
to the consideration of the scheme in February 2021. Therefore, a copy of the
original officer report was attached to the submitted report at Appendix 1
along with a copy of the minutes from the February 2021 meeting appended
at Appendix 2.
Members were requested to note that the officer recommendations remained
as set out in February 2021, with the exception of the delivery method which
now included both Build to Rent and Build to Sell options.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 10th February, 2022

Page 10

Members were advised of the following points:
 The building had been vacant since 1989 and had fallen into a state of
dilapidation.
 Ward Members had been consulted on the proposals for the new
delivery methods. It was noted that Cllr R Graham had requested
potential values for sale which had been supplied to him, but no further
representations had been received from Cllr Graham since the figures
were provided.
 The alternative delivery options would form part of the S106 agreement
and its clauses providing for a viability review. The developers wished
to be able to supply housing to a wider market.
 That the submitted viability statements showed that both Build to Rent
and Build for Sale options would not be viable and both were projected
to deliver significant financial losses. That the Build to Rent viability had
been calculated with a targeted 8% profit level and Build to Sell on a
15% profit level.
Members’ discussions included:
 The use of highways funding for the clearance and maintenance of the
steps which would provide access to and from the site.
 The use and refurbishment of the Chancel and Transept including the
Rose Window as an open space.
 The use of the chosen materials to provide a contemporary contrast to
the original building.
 Consultation that had taken place with Conservation officers and
Historic England regarding maintaining public access to key areas for
occasions such as Heritage Open Days, materials to be used, and the
balance between what areas of the building will be demolished and
what can be retained / restored.
 The travel fund which would promote car sharing, walking, cycling and
public transport. Given the favourable location of the site, at the edge
of the city centre and with good connectivity, the focus is on
sustainable modes of transport being used rather than a focus on car
parking provision.
 It was noted that there would 56 parking spaces which would include
car club spaces and disabled spaces. It was also noted that there was
provision for EVCP for all but 2 parking spaces and there would 138
cycle spaces.
 Expected affordable housing provision and how this interacts with the
viability review mechanism proposed to form part the S106
Agreement’s terms.
 Members expressed a view that they wished to retain the Celtic Cross
as part of the refurbishment. It was noted that this could be imposed as
a condition.
The District Valuer provided the Panel with information in relation to the
proposals for both options either Build to Rent or Build to Sell. He also
explained the position in relation to affordable housing on this site.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 10th February, 2022

Page 11

Members were advised that should the development make a profit, the review
mechanism set out in the submitted report would be used to assess if the
developer was able to make a contribution for affordable housing.
The Developer was present at the meeting and at the request of the Chair
explained that this exercise would provide flexibility in options to assess
potential in profit to fund the project.
In summing up, the Area Planning Manger advised the Panel that the
February Plans Panel had resolved to grant planning permission and listed
building consent subject to the completion of the S106 Agreement. That there
had been no material change to policy or circumstance relating to the
planning merits of the case since that time. This report had been brought to
Panel for Members to solely consider the inclusion of the alternative delivery
method (i.e. Build to Sell) for the purposes of viability review clause in that
S106 Agreement. It was the view of officers at the current time that, based on
existing viability calculations, there was a need to forgo affordable housing to
ensure that key elements of this building – of both historic and architectural
interest – would be saved and redevelopment of the site proceed after the
elapse of such a considerable length of time.
RESOLVED - To defer and delegate planning permission as set out in the
submitted report with the following additional conditions:
 Original Celtic Cross to be saved and repositioned if necessary
 Maintenance of the Grade II areas of the site
 Highways contribution to include the refurbishment of the steps
51

Date and Time of Next Meeting
RESOLVED – That the next meeting of North and East Plans Panel will be on
Thursday 13th January 2022, at 1:30pm in Civic Hall, Leeds.

CHAIRS CLOSING COMMENTS
The Chair expressed his pleasure at this site going forward. He said that as
Member of Plans Panel he had seen numerous applications for this site. He
looked forward to seeing this development which would restore some of the
original building to its former glory.
He thanked everyone for their attendance and contributions and wished all a
Merry Christmas.
The meeting concluded at 14:25

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 10th February, 2022

Page 12

Agenda Item 7
Originator: Glen Allen
Tel:

0113 3787976

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
Date: 10 February 2022
Subject: 21/06408/FU - Single storey rear extension at 532 - 534 Scott Hall Road,
Leeds, LS7 3RA.
APPLICANT
Mr K Nota

DATE VALID
31.08.2021

Electoral Wards Affected:

TARGET DATE
26.10.2021

Specific Implications For:
Equality and Diversity
Community Cohesion

Yes

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE permission for the following reasons:
1. The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposed extension, by virtue of its
impact on the root protection areas and canopies of nearby trees, would result in
significant damage to, and the likely loss of, a number of significant mature trees at
the site. The significant harm to trees in this respect will have a detrimental impact on
local character and visual amenity, biodiversity and wider climate change and air
pollution objectives and would be contrary to Polices P10 Design, P12 Landscape, G9
Biodiversity of the Leeds Core Strategy, Saved Policy GP5 of the Leeds Unitary
Development Plan and contrary to Land 2 of the Natural Resources and Waste Local
Plan DPD. The proposal is also contrary to advice in the document Guideline
Distances from Development to Trees and the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF).
2. The proposed use would likely intensify the existing use of the substandard access
and track serving the rear of the properties and the proposed extension and lead to a
conflict between users, both vehicular and pedestrian, existing and proposed, and
present an unacceptable road safety danger. As such the proposal is contrary to
Policy T2 of the Core Strategy.
Page 13

1

INTRODUCTION:
1.

This application is brought to Plans Panel at the request of Councillor Dowson, the
basis of her request is because of the wider impacts of the potential tree loss in the
vicinity of the site could be outweighed by the benefit that the development will bring
to the applicants business in this instance. As the Ward Member has raised material
planning considerations that give rise to concerns affecting more than neighbouring
properties one of the exceptions, as set out in the Officer Delegation Scheme, is met
and it is appropriate to report the application to Plans Panel for determination.
PROPOSAL:

2.

The proposal seeks planning permission for a single storey rear extension to 532 534 Scott Hall Road. The proposed extension has a footprint of 12m by 14.05m. It has
a flat roof with two large roller shutter doors that face out on to an unmade access
track that runs across the rear of neighbouring properties in the parade. There is also
a further large single roller shutter door on the other side elevation. This is accessed
via a narrow path and the door faces towards the rear garden of the neighbouring
residential property. The extension is shown to be constructed with a brick plinth with
vertical cladding (material not specified) above.

3.

The site is currently in use as a car parts sales outlet that also offers repairs and fixing
of parts to vehicles. These currently take place on the frontage of the site which forms
part of a wider access forecourt for this site and the other commercial properties that
the application forms a part of.

4.

This can, it has been observed, cause congestion on the service road that runs in
front of these commercial properties and so the single storey extension would remove
this aspect of the applicant’s operations to the rear of the units and reduce the level of
activity on this highly prominent frontage.

5.

The extension would add circa 168 square metres of floor space to the unit which
currently has 126 square metres of floor space. Overall, if allowed, the unit would
have a floor space of 294 square metres.
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

6.

The site comprises two units at the southern most end of a row of single storey
commercial properties with flat roofs that front Scott Hall Road on the eastern side of
Scott Hall Road. The properties are in various commercial uses including three food
take-away shops, two barbers/hairstylists and a bookmakers.

7.

To the south there are residential properties in the form of pairs of semi-detached
dwellings that are common along the rest of Scott Hall Road in the immediate vicinity
of the application site. To the east is the West Yorkshire Police site with car parking
and vehicular access adjacent to the trees that separate the proposed development
from the main part of that police complex. There is a public right of way that runs to
the south and continue to the rear of the site.

8.

To the north is the vehicular access point to the car parking and access drive that
serves the frontage of all the properties in this row of commercial properties, and also
gives access to the area to the rear of the units. All of which have pedestrian doors to
access the rear and/or serve as fire escapes.
2
Page 14

9.

Beyond this access point, which also gives access to a 48 sheet poster hardstanding
site and telecommunications installation, is the junction of Scott Hall Road and
Stainbeck Lane.
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

10.

21/01214/FU - Single storey rear extension – Refused - 28.06.2021
This proposal was a development very similar to that subject to the current
application. Planning permission was refused for reasons relating to concerns that it
would result in the loss of tress causing harm to local character, bio-diversity, climate
change and air pollution.
LOCAL RESPONSE:

11.

The application has been advertised by site notice and no objections have been
received. The ward Member has commented on the application and these comments
are summarised at paragraph 1 above.
CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES:

12.

Highways – Objections due to substandard and inadequate access.

13.

Landscape – Advised that the application should be determined in accordance with
local and national planning policy including LCC Guideline Distances from
Development to Trees 2012 (Revised February 2021). The comment also refers to the
nature and scope of information that should be submitted in support of an application.
PLANNING POLICIES:

14.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
planning applications are determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For the purposes of decision
making in relation to this application, the Development Plan for Leeds currently
comprises the Core Strategy (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review
2019), saved policies within the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review
2006)(UDPR) and the Natural Resources and Waste Development Plan Document
(2013) and any made neighbourhood plan.
Local Planning Policy

15.

The most relevant local planning policies are outlined below:
Core Strategy:

16.

The Core Strategy sets out strategic level policies and vision to guide the delivery of
development decisions and the overall future of the district. The most relevant local
planning policies from the Core Strategy (as amended) are:
Spatial Policy 1 - Location of Development
Page 15

3

Spatial Policy 8 - Economic Development Priorities
Policy G9 - Biodiversity Improvements
Policy P10 - Design
Policy P12 - Landscape quality, character and biodiversity
Policy EN8 - Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure
Policy T2 - Accessibility Requirements & New Development
UDPR
17.

GP5 – Detailed Planning Considerations
BD6 – Alterations and extensions
LD1 - Landscape Design
Natural Resources and Waste Management Plan

18.

General Policy 1 – Support for Sustainable developments
Land 2 – Trees should be conserved wherever possible and where trees are
removed, suitable replacement should be made as part of an overall landscape
scheme
Relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

19.

Street Design Guide SPD
Parking SPD
Building for Tomorrow Today: Sustainable Design and Construction SPD
Other Relevant Documents

20.

Guideline Distances from Development to Trees 2012 (Revised February 2021)
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

21.

Revised in February 2019, the NPPF sets out the Government's overarching planning
policies on the delivery of sustainable development through the planning system and
strongly promotes good design and sustainable development. The NPPF must be
taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a
material consideration in planning decisions.

22.

The introduction of the NPPF has not changed the legal requirement that applications
for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policy guidance in Annex 1 to
the NPPF is that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans
according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. The closer the policies in the
plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight they may be given. The
provisions within the NPPF are given further articulation and practical consideration in
the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

23.

The NPPF sets out that “…Significant weight should be placed on the need to support
economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and
wider opportunities for development.” (para. 81). At paragraph 110 the NPPF says
that in assessing applications for development it should be ensured that “b) safe and
suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users…”. Furthermore, at para. 131
it is set out that “…Trees make an important contribution to the character and quality
of urban environments, and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate change.”
Page 16

4

Climate Change
24.

The Council declared a climate change emergency on 27th of March 2019 in response
to the UN’s report on Climate Change.

25.

The Planning Act 2008, alongside the Climate Change Act 2008, sets out that climate
mitigation and adaptation are central principles of plan-making. The NPPF makes
clear that the planning system should help to shape places in ways that contribute to
radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in line with the objectives of the
Climate Change Act 2008.

26.

As part of the Council’s Best Council Plan 2019/20 to 2020/21, the Council seeks to
promote a less wasteful, low carbon economy. The Council’s Development Plan
includes a number of planning policies which seek to meet this aim, as does the
NPPF. These are material planning considerations in determining planning
applications.
MAIN ISSUES:

27.

The main issues relating to this development proposal are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

The principle of the development
Design of the extension
Amenity of neighbours
Highways
Landscape including trees
Economic Development

APPRAISAL:
The principle of the development
28.

The development is an extension of the existing use that is currently taking place on
the site. The use has been long established at the site and is a commercial activity in
an existing parade of commercial properties, which by their nature are not all open at
the same time. The food take-away shops appear to be evening activities compared
to the other commercial activities that are predominantly day-time activities.

29.

It is considered that as a matter of principle that the continuation and expansion of the
use is acceptable in this commercial parade of units subject to detailed planning
considerations.
Design of the extension

30.

The design is by nature simple and utilitarian, however the only views of the single
storey extension would be from the rear access driveway that serves the entrance
doors to the extension, the public right of way that runs to the south of the site and
from neighbouring properties. Unless there is need to visit the extension specifically or
gain access to the rear service doors of the other properties the extension will
Page 17

5

essentially be hidden from all other views. The design is therefore considered
acceptable.
Amenity of neighbours
31.

The nearest neighbour lies to the south of the site and sits facing Scott Hall Road so
that it “sides” onto the application site. One of the trees to be removed as part of this
proposal sits on the common boundary with this property, however there is a high
density of vegetation and existing out buildings along the common boundary that
would protect, to some degree, the amenity of occupiers of that property from any
activities within the proposed extension. Also, the vegetation and outbuildings would
serve to mitigate the visual impact of the extension. In addition, if planning permission
were to be granted conditions could be attached controlling the hours of use, the
provision of sound proofing, controlling the siting of any plant/ventilation/extraction
installations and the use/nature of power tools. No other neighbours are considered to
be affected by the proposal. The proposal is considered acceptable in amenity terms.

32.

One of the potential benefits of the proposal that exists is the discontinuation of
vehicle repairs on the forecourt of the premises. It is understood that if planning
permission is granted then this activity would take place in the proposed extension. It
is not known how frequently such activity takes place and the precise nature of it.
However, the use of the forecourt for this activity is clearly limited by the fact it is
outside and exposed to the elements and its remoteness from the business unit and
its facilities. Any activity that takes place is set also set against the noise backdrop of
a significant and busy road. Accordingly, this benefit is attributed moderate weight.
Highways

33.

The application site is situated in a generally sustainable and accessible location
within an existing parade of commercial units. The extension to the existing building is
significant in size and could reasonably be expected to generate new trips to the site.
The Council’s Highways Team have advised that in theory, this would require an
additional two to three off-site car parking spaces at the site in response.

34.

However, it is recognised that the existing parade benefits from a good level of
parking provision and the expanded use would be likely to continue to generate a
short duration of stay by visitors and a high turnover of spaces as a result.

35.

The proposal would seem to relocate vehicle repair activities to the rear currently
taking place on the forecourt. Vehicular access is proposed to the rear of the building
via unmade land to rear of the parade. This area of land does not fall within the
application site. No evidence has been submitted to demonstrate that the applicant
has a right of access across the land.

36.

In addition, the access around the end of the row of buildings to the north is only
about 3m wide around a right angle bend, with virtually no forward visibility- it would
therefore be unsuitable for the intended purpose. The entrance to the rear access is
currently used for parking, which would be displaced to the front.

37.

The service road to the front is also in a poor state of repair- the intensification of use
from the proposed development would cause further deterioration which would likely
bring debris onto the adopted highway.

38.

For these reasons vehicle access is considered to be substandard and unacceptable.
This is a matter that is afforded significant weight.
6
Page 18

Landscape including trees
39.

There are no landscaping requirements as such, however because the development
seeks to go so close to the common boundaries with the Police Station on Stainbeck
Lane and the residential property to the south on Scott Hall Road, there are significant
concerns in relation to the potential loss of mature and semi mature trees located
close to these common boundaries.

40.

The applicant has submitted contradictory information with regard to the depth of the
area available to develop to the rear of the existing building. The submitted location
plan shows the depth of the rea to rear of the building to 9m. The submitted site layout
plan contradicts this and indicates the depth to some 17m. However, an Aboricultural
Impact Assessment has also been submitted in support of the application. The
position of the tree trunks, canopies and the root protection areas have been
provided. This is discussed further below.

41.

The trees which exist close to the rear and southern boundaries are numerous (with
ten trees being situated in the immediate proximity of the application site) and include
a number of significant mature specimens. The larger trees in particular are visible
from Scott Hall Road and form part of an attractive tree belt along the eastern
boundary to the rear of the commercial parade. The trees are a significant part of local
character and deliver other benefits relating to biodiversity, climate change and air
pollution.

42.

The previous planning application at the site suggested that the development would
not impact on any trees or that there were no trees on site. When this was queried by
the Council, the applicant provided a tree report showing the location of the trees,
their canopy spreads and their root protection areas. However, it was noted at the
time of the previous application that this information had not been presented in
accordance with the relevant British Standard (BS5837) as root protection areas had
not been adjusted to take into account of the large amounts of hardstanding in the
police station to the east of the site or the structures in the neighbouring site to the
south (meaning the reality was that there would be greater root spread into the
application site). The same information has again been provided in support of the
current application.

43.

Notwithstanding the above, even on the information provided by the applicant, it is
clear that the root protection areas of trees cover almost the entirety of the application
site where the extension is proposed. For example, the largest tree to the rear of the
site (T3 – a category B Sycamore tree)(category B = Trees of moderate quality or
value capable of making a significant contribution to the area for 20 or more years)
has a root protection area which covers almost the entirety of this area alone. Whilst it
is noted that there is some degree of concrete covering at the site which may have
also impact on tree root spread in to the application site, the submitted tree
information has entirely failed to engage with the likely impacts of the development in
relation to these trees which would clearly be significant. The impacts to T3 alone in
respect of damage to tree roots would be likely to be fatal to the long-term health of
tree in the opinion of officers.

44.

It is considered that the proposed development, if root protection areas were to be
appropriately adjusted in accordance with the British Standard, would be likely to lead
to significant damage to the health of and likely future loss of a further two significant
mature trees (T1 a category B Norway Spruce and T2 a further category B sycamore)
even if these trees were to survive the construction process – in addition to the 7
Page 19

inevitable loss of T3. This is in addition to the loss of two category C trees (category C
= Trees of low quality, adequate for retention for a minimum of 10 years expecting
new planting to take place; or young trees that are less than 15 cms in diameter which
should be considered for re-planting where they impinge significantly on the proposed
development) which the applicant intends to remove. Both of these trees are noted as
being in good physical condition and which have in excess of a 40 year life span
remaining.
45.

The impacts to trees are therefore clearly significant. This raises a number of
concerns given the aforementioned significance of the trees to local character,
biodiversity, climate change and control of air pollution.

46.

In respect of local character, as noted above, the trees form an attractive tree belt
along the eastern boundary to the rear of the commercial parade visible from Scott
Hall Road and neighbouring sites. In visual amenity terms their loss would be
significant and the existing positive contribution of the trees to local character would
be lost.

47.

In respect of biodiversity the loss of the trees would lead to an obvious and significant
impact on biodiversity at the site. The proposal would therefore straightforwardly fail to
provide for a biodiversity net gain as required by Core Strategy policy G9.

48.

It is noted that due to the extent of the proposed extension would lead no realistic
opportunity to provide for replacement tree planting of a kind which could be expected
to replace trees of the size which exist given the constraints which would exist for any
new tree planted. Policy Land 2 of the Council’s Natural Resources and Waste Plan
states “…Development should conserve trees wherever possible and also introduce
new tree planting as part of creating high quality living and working environments and
enhancing the public realm”. However, in relation to this application, it is also clear
that it would not be possible to provide replacement tree planting on a 3:1
replacement ratio as required by policy Land 2.

49.

In respect of the wider benefits that the trees provide in terms of climate change and
limitation of air pollution, the proposal would provide no opportunity to replace these
benefits, even in the longer term as a result of the above.

50.

As such in all of the aforementioned respects the development would lead to
significant harm, clearly contrary to relevant local and national planning policies and
objectives including Core Strategy policies P10, P12 and G9, saved UDP policy GP5,
policy Land 2 of the NRAW DPD and the advice in the Council document Guideline
Distances from Development to Trees and the NPPF. These are matters that are
afforded significant weight.
Economic Development

51.

On the face of it the proposal would benefit the existing business. It would provide a
purpose-built facility that would help improve the operation of business activities at the
site. The full extent of the benefits have not been set out by the applicant. It is noted
that the application form has been completed to say that the number of employees on
the site will not increase as a result of the development. However, it is recognised that
the proposal will enhance the business facilities and this is a matter that is afforded
significant weight in favour of the development.

Page 20

8

PLANNING BALANCE & CONCLUSION:
52.

The detrimental impact on trees at and around the site, including the likely loss of
three significant mature category B trees and the loss of a further two category C
trees, all with a significant life expectancy which are currently physically in a good
condition is considered to lead to significant planning policy conflicts. The loss of the
trees would be significantly harmful to local character and visual amenity, biodiversity
and wider climate change and air pollution objectives. These are matters that are
afforded significant weight and count against the grant of planning permission.

53.

Further harm to highway safety as a result of a substandard vehicular access is also a
matter that is of significant weight and counts against the grant of planning
permission.

54.

The benefits of the proposal to the applicant and the resident business are noted and
is afforded significant weight in favour of the proposal.

55.

Another factor in favour of the grant of permission, and this is related to the previous
point, is the potential cessation of carrying out vehicle repairs on the forecourt of the
premises and the benefit that brings to character and amenities of the area. This is a
matter that is afforded moderate weight.

56.

The design of the proposal is considered to be a neutral factor that does not weigh in
favour or against the proposal.

57.

However, it is not considered that the identified benefits outweigh the significant harm
identified. As a result, the proposals are considered to be unacceptable and therefore
recommended for refusal for the reasons outlined above and discussed in the body of
this report.

Background Papers:
Application files :
Certificate of ownership:

21/06408/FU
Signed by applicant as sole owner of application site

Page 21

9

NS

CARRHO LM

R

WE

1
3

2
4

IV E

58 7

R
YD
LE

2

31
36

21

2
36

102a
21

45

27
57 6

11

11 a

38

a
28
11

11

RO
AD
HA
LL

56 6

TT

41

56 3

FE

5

CR

ES C

EN

9

LIF

10

OD

T

MO
O

R

18
56 2

FA
RM

GA R
D

6

2

14

SC
O

2

42

15

28

34

57 0

37

4

El Sub Sta

158

4

1

WO

115.5m

Sta in bec
k
Ha ll

27

30

CARRHO LM VIEW

152

EN S

7

8

160

19

26

57 5

35

Moor Farm
1

13 8

y

124

1

55 6

139

55 4

12 2

137
LK
CK WA

13 1

STAIN
BE

98a

100

96

98

ry
ge

12
5

5

116.1m

STAINBECK LANE

She lte r

2

2

12

114

r
Su

3

9

55 1

31

7

33

4

27

16

116

118.9m
12 9

1

6

1

CR

55 6a

War d
Bd
LB

8

AN E

WENSLEY CRESCENT

EC K L

55 3

55 8

STAI NB
TCB

1

13
8

3

Police Station

543

Gas
Governor

10

5

12

7

10
13

Mast

Shelter

16

WE ST L

548

17

ODG E

537

15

LB

11

18

54 8 a

21/06408/FU

TCB

2

25
32

538

El Sub Sta

N
C

E

HENCO NNER ROAD
25

HENCONNER GARTH

S
E
R
C
L
IL
H
S
E
M
IL

2

16
a

18

1

535

18

23

1
528

9

16

18

15

Highfield
Nurseries

11

T

37

The Old
School
Bunga low

14

7

15

CO N

9
12

S

16

1

CRESCENT

D EN

11

2

G AR

527

11

N ER

7

13

22
2

15

1

SC

W

26

36

HE N

40

51 7
14

51 4

TT H

Posts

23

R OA

51 2

AL L

Trees

CR E

S CE

NT

49
19

D
El Sub Sta

Scott Hall
Leisu re Cen tre
36

33

114.6m

27

25

26

28

L AV EN
MILES HIL

50 7

23

L STR EET
MILES HIL

13

12

N ER

53

17
2

SC O

Su rg ery

CO N

39

V IE

2

L

27

H IL

13

MI

S
LE

15

1

O

T

T

8

516

HA

LL

117.0m
40

16

16

HE N

5

1

28

Po sts

UE
22

20

13
22

E
MIL

FLO

27

15

49 5

11

36

W TO

12

Rutland
Cottage

48 9

49 1 to
49 3

1

128

118

116

2

46

1 5 6

34

9
8

136

UR
N CO

7

138

112.2m
LB

130

2

142

144

TCB

122

49

39

27

148

10

Rutlan d
Lodg e

11

19

20

ER NE

14

PO TT

12

E

N UE

OV

AV E

37

GR

RAL

ILL
SH

1 to 5

120

111.9m

199

109.7m

203

205

213

223

235

233

2

111.3m

111.6m

197

PO TTERNEW TON LANE

Mast (Telecommunication)

s

2

1

Tr ee

1

3

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 22

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/2500

10

°

T

Page 23

11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Originator: Glen Allen
Tel:

0113 3787976

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
Date: 10th February 2022
Subject: APPEAL DECISION SUMMARY - 19/04950/FU - Development of 58 No.
apartments for retirement/lifestyle living exclusively for residents of age 55+,
associated communal spaces, access from Grove Lane and new Landscaping, Land
Adj. Grove Park Care Home, Grove Lane, Meanwood, Leeds, LS6 2BG.
APPLICANT
Roseville (The Paddock) Ltd

DATE VALID
N/A

Electoral Wards Affected:
Chapel Allerton
Headingley
Weetwood

Yes

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

TARGET DATE
N/A

Specific Implications For:
Equality and Diversity
Community Cohesion
Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION: To Note Report:
BACKGROUND
1

This application was considered at the North & East Plans Panel of 13th August
2020. The application report set out a recommendation that planning permission be
granted. Plans Panel resolved:
“To defer for an extension of time to be sought and, subsequently, further negotiations
undertaken with the developers such that if this was proved to not be acceptable to
the developers, to delegate authority to officers to set out reasons for refusal of the
application based on the stated reasons for deferral.”

2

Following further discussions, the applicant declined to extend the time for the
consideration of the application and requested that the application be determined as
submitted.

3

Planning permission was refused on 12th November 2020 for the following reasons:
Page 25

1

1) It is considered that the development proposal results in an inappropriate amount
of overlooking particularly in respect of the residential property at 98a Grove
Lane leading to a loss of privacy for the occupants of that property and in
particular their ability to enjoy use of the private garden space. These are
amenities that current and future occupants of that property can reasonably
expect to continue to enjoy. As such the proposal is contrary to Polices GP5 and
BD5 of the UDPR and contrary to Policy P10 of the Core Strategy. The scheme
is also considered to be contrary to advice in the Supplementary Planning
Document Neighbourhoods for Living.
2) The site currently has an open character and a natural appearance that facilitates
long distance views across an open vista. This makes an important and positive
contribution to the character and amenity of this defined area of Green
Infrastructure. The proposal by reason of its scale and siting is considered
inappropriate for this location, resulting in a loss of views across the wider vista of
the Meanwood Valley by means of interruptions to those wider views as a result
of the prominence and massing of the development. It will also result in a
significant reduction in the green infrastructure/corridor function and to a loss of
visual amenity to the wider area. As such the proposal constitutes an
overdevelopment of the site and is contrary to Policies G1 and P10 of the Core
Strategy and GP5 and BD5 of the UDPR and is contrary to advice contained in
Neighbourhoods for Living and advice in the NPPF on matters of good design
and sustainable development
4

The applicant lodged an appeal against the refusal of planning permission and made
an application for an award of costs against the council as it was alleged that the
council had behaved unreasonably in refusing planning permission. The Inspector
allowed the appeal and granted planning permission but refused the application for
costs. The Inspector decision letters are dated 13th December 2021.
SUMMARY OF APPEAL DECISION

5

The Inspector identified the main issues to be the effect on:
•
•
•

The character and appearance of the area, with due regard to green
infrastructure.
The living conditions of nearby residents with regards to privacy, outlook and
light; and
The supply of housing.

6

The Inspector noted that the site is located on the edge of a predominantly
residential area, has an open appearance and enables views of the Meanwood
Valley. It was concluded that the site makes a positive contribution to the landscape.
It was set out that the significant scale and flat roofed design of the proposal that did
not reflect that of nearby development. However, it was considered that the size and
self-contained nature of the site made an individual approach to development
appropriate.

7

The Inspector considered that a combination of the form, design and layout of the
building, the landscaped setting, sloping topography and use of under croft parking
would offset its visual impact from Grove Lane and nearby public footpaths.

8

The Inspector noted the site’s designation as Urban Green Corridor and the potential
of such land to contribute to informal recreation, visual amenity, and nature
conservation. It was noted that the site is privately owned with no public access for
2
Page 26

recreation. It was concluded that the provision of a pocket park and improvements to
an adjacent public right of way would be moderate enhancements to the function of
the green corridor. A 5% increase in bio-diversity gain was also considered to be an
enhancement.
9

The Inspector considered that the proposal would restrict views from public vantage
points of the wider vista beyond the site and therefore found that it would cause
moderate harm and be in conflict with policies relating to the functions of the Green
Corridor. The Inspector also found conflict with policies that seek to protect the
spatial and visual character of an area. But conversely the Inspector considered the
proposal to be of an appropriate design.

10

With regard to residential amenity the Inspector concluded that due to the design
and layout of the building, the degree of separation and the provision of landscaping
unacceptable harm would not be caused to the amenities of the nearest residents.

11

The Inspector gave significant weight to provision of housing, 9 affordable units and
the contribution the scheme would make towards the need for meeting older persons
specialist provision.

12

The Inspector also noted that there would be economic benefits including during
construction, that suitable parking was provided, that the site is well served by public
transport and that existing trees would be retained. A signed and completed
Planning Obligation in respect of the provision of affordable housing, contributions to
public open space and a bus shelter upgrade was provided by the appellant.

13

The Inspector concluded that the substantial benefits arsing from housing supply
and the contribution towards meeting an identified specialist housing need and
affordable housing outweighed to the harm that he identified. The appeal was
allowed.
SUMMARY OF COSTS DECISION:

14

The Inspector set out that the Planning Practice Guidance (the Guidance) advises
that costs may be awarded against a party who has behaved unreasonably and
thereby caused the party applying for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense
in the appeal process.

15

The appellant argued that the council had failed to substantiate its case in respect of
harm to residential amenity, that the council had failed to recognise that the site
deleted as proposed Green Space on the adoption of the Site Allocations Plan and
that the development plan does not identify protected viewpoints. However, the
Inspector concluded that the council consideration of harm to amenity was not
without foundation, that the council was justified in considering the visual amenity
function of the Urban Green Corridor and that the visual linkages between areas can
be an important consideration. For those reasons the Inspector concluded that the
council had not behaved unreasonably.

Background Papers:
Application files:
Certificate of ownership:

19/04950/FU
Signed on behalf of the applicant as sole owner
Page 27

3

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 19 May 2021
by David Cross BA(Hons) PgDip(Dist) TechIOA MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 13 December 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/N4720/W/21/3267996
Land Adjacent to Grove Park Care Home, Grove Lane, Leeds LS6 2BG
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr S Foster of Roseville (The Paddock) Ltd against the decision
of Leeds City Council.
The application Ref 19/04950/FU, dated 2 August 2019, was refused by notice dated
12 November 2020.
The development proposed is 58 no apartments for retirement/lifestyle living exclusively
for residents of age 55+, associated communal spaces, access Grove Lane and new
landscaping.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for 58 no apartments
for retirement/lifestyle living exclusively for residents of age 55+, associated
communal spaces, access Grove Lane and new landscaping at Land Adjacent to
Grove Park Care Home, Grove Lane, Leeds LS6 2BG in accordance with the
terms of the application, Ref 19/04950/FU, dated 2 August 2019, subject to the
conditions set out in the Schedule at the end of this decision.
Application for Costs
2. An application for costs was made by Mr S Foster of Roseville (The Paddock)
Ltd against Leeds City Council. This application is the subject of a separate
Decision.
Preliminary Matters
3. The description of the development has changed during the course of the
planning application, including a reduction in the number of proposed
apartments. This amended description is specified on the Council’s decision
notice and the planning appeal form, and I have used it within this Decision.
4. A revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework)
has been published since the appeal was lodged. Both main parties were given
the opportunity to comment on any relevant implications for the appeal. I have
had regard to the revised Framework in reaching my decision.
5. I was requested to view the appeal site from 98a Grove Lane, and I was able to
do so at my site visit.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 28

4

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

Main Issues
6. The main issues in this appeal are the effect on:
•

The character and appearance of the area, with due regard to green
infrastructure;

•

The living conditions of nearby residents with regards to privacy, outlook and
light; and

•

The supply of housing.

Reasons
Character, Appearance and Green Infrastructure
7. The appeal site is located on the edge of a primarily residential suburban area,
and is a grassed plot extending between the built-up area and the landscape of
the Meanwood Valley. Although the evidence suggests the site previously
contained some built development, I saw that the site has an open appearance
and enables views of the Meanwood Valley, including from the public realm of
Grove Lane and adjacent residential development. Despite its open character,
the site is private land and has no public access.
8. The appeal proposal would be a substantial building arranged in an
approximately ‘H’ layout, with two blocks extending up to 4-storeys high joined
by a lower central section. The building would be set back from Grove Lane,
with a landscaped setting which would include amenity areas for residents as
well as a public ‘pocket park’ adjacent to Grove Lane.
9. The significant scale and flat roofed design of the building would not reflect that
of nearby development, which is predominantly of a suburban residential
character. However, the site is of a size and self-contained nature where an
individual approach to design is appropriate.
10. In views from Grove Lane, the layout of the proposal, the ‘end-on’
arrangement of the main blocks and the lower central section would break up
the massing of the building. Furthermore, the landscaped set-back from Grove
Lane and the use of the sloping topography of the site would mitigate a
potentially overbearing impact in views from the north.
11. The proposal would project towards a public right of way to the south of the
site. However, although the proposal would be visible from this right of way,
the distance from the site boundary, the ‘end-on’ nature of the nearest
elevations and the set-back of the top floor would ensure that the proposal
would not have an unacceptable overbearing impact, even allowing for the
sloping topography of the area. I am also mindful that it is proposed to
improve this right of way as part of the appeal scheme. There are also other
rights of way further to the west which lead into the Meanwood Valley. Users of
all of these rights of way would see a significant change in the character of the
site, with an open field being replaced by housing. However, this change in
character would not be sufficient to warrant the refusal of planning permission,
and would be mitigated to a degree through the layout and design of the
proposal as well as landscaping.
12. The longer side elevations would not be as readily apparent from the public
realm. In any event, the massing of these elevations would be mitigated
2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 29

5

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

through the use of materials and detailing including balconies, which would
break up the bulk of the proposal and add visual interest.
13. In medium to longer distance views from the Meanwood Valley, the use of
materials, detailing and use of screen planting would be an appropriate
approach to mitigating the scale of the building. Trees within the Valley would
also provide a substantial degree of screening from routes passing through the
area, even when the trees are not in leaf.
14. The proposal would be apparent in longer-distance elevated views from
Woodhouse Ridge. However, it would be viewed against the background of the
existing built-up area, including the massing of the Grove Park Care Home.
Within this context, the proposal would appear as a logical extension to the
built-up area rather than an unacceptable projection of development into the
sensitive landscape of the Meanwood Valley.
15. Although of a substantial scale, the proposal would not appear as an
overdevelopment of the site due to the set-back from the site boundaries, the
relationship with the sloping topography, the incorporation of landscaping and
the design of the building which would break-up its massing. The provision of
much of the car parking within an undercroft would also limit the extent of hard
surfacing within the scheme.
16. The site has previously been designated as proposed Green Space within the
Unitary Development Plan Review 2006 (UDPR), although that designation was
subsequently deleted on the adoption of the Site Allocations Plan 2019 (SAP).
17. The site is within a wider Urban Green Corridor designated under Policy N8 of
the UDPR. These Corridors are a strategic network which links the main urban
area and the countryside, and the submitted evidence indicates that these
include built-up areas as well as identifiable green-wedges and linear routes.
Policy N8 sets out that these Green Corridors have the potential to provide for
informal recreation and also contribute to visual amenity and nature
conservation.
18. Policy G1 of the Council’s Core Strategy1 relates to areas of Green
Infrastructure, including Woodhouse Ridge which is designated as Green Space.
Whilst the appeal site is not within this allocation, policy G1 refers to
development adjoining such areas, and due to the proximity and sensitive
relationship of the appeal site to designated Green Space I consider that it is
appropriate to assess the proposal against this policy.
19. With regards to the functions of Green Corridors referred to in Policy N8, the
site is private land with no public access for informal recreation. However, the
provision of a new pocket park for public use and improvements to an adjacent
public right of way will provide a moderate enhancement to this Green Corridor
function. The provision of safe access to the pocket park can be addressed as
part of a condition requiring a landscaping scheme. In respect of nature
conservation, a Biodiversity Metric Calculation indicates an increase in
biodiversity potential of approximately 5% resulting from the proposal, and
whilst this may be of a limited degree it nevertheless represents an
enhancement. The indicated biodiversity gain is below the 10% referred to in
the Environment Act 2021, however this requirement is not yet in force. The
1

Core Strategy (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review 2019)

3

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 30

6

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

proposal complies with the Framework with regards to providing net gains for
biodiversity.
20. With regards to visual amenity, the site makes some positive contribution to
the streetscape as an area of open land adjacent to the built-up area; although
I am mindful that a previous potential allocation as Green Space has been
deleted. The site also enables views of the Meanwood Valley and Woodhouse
Ridge when viewed from Grove Lane, and to this extent therefore makes a
positive contribution to the appreciation of the landscape of this Green
Infrastructure from the built-up area.
21. The proposed building would restrict views from Grove Lane of the Meanwood
Valley and the Woodhouse Ridge, from both the public realm and in views from
adjacent properties. However, this would only impact a limited extent of Grove
Lane, and due to the lower central section of the proposal and views to the side
of the building, some visibility of the landscape beyond the site would still be
retained. The proposed building would also be set back from Grove Lane which
would enable the provision of landscaping and a public amenity area.
Furthermore, the Green Corridor projects across Grove Lane a short distance to
the west of the site, so that the link between this built-up area and green
infrastructure would not be completely severed. On that basis, the
development would restrict views of the wider vista beyond the site, and this
carries moderate weight against the proposal. The proposal would therefore
conflict with policies N8(i) and G1(i) with regards to the harm to Green Corridor
functions in respect of visual amenity and the appreciation of Green
Infrastructure.
22. Turning to other elements of policy G1, section G1(ii) states that where
appropriate, the opportunity is taken to extend Green Infrastructure. However,
given the private ownership of the site, lack of public access and the deletion of
the potential designation of Green Space, I do not consider that such an
extension would be appropriate for this site. That said, the scheme does reflect
some of the aims of G1(ii) through the introduction of green roofs and some
tree planting. With regards to G1(iii), the proposal would include a landscaping
scheme which would deal positively with the transition between the
development and adjoining open land. Given the nature of the site and the
proposal, the opportunity to increase woodland cover is limited, but in that
regard the scheme would at least include a degree of tree planting.
23. As a housing development on a non-allocated site, the proposal should also be
assessed against policy H2 of the Core Strategy. This states that greenfield
land should not be developed if it makes a valuable contribution to the visual
and spatial character of the area. Due to the impact on views across the site of
the wider landscape, the proposal would conflict with this policy.
24. Drawing the above together, I conclude that the proposal would be of an
appropriate design within the constraints of the site. However, due to the
moderate harm to views from the built-up area of the important landscape
beyond the site, the proposal would conflict with policies H2, P10 and G1 of the
Core Strategy as well as policies GP5 and N8 of the UDPR with regards to the
visual and spatial character of the area and the functions of green
infrastructure. The proposal would also conflict with the Framework with
regards to achieving well-designed places.

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 31

7

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

25. The Council’s reason for refusal on this issue refers to policy BD5 of the UDPR.
However, this relates to amenity considerations specific to the site and
neighbouring buildings and is not relevant to my consideration of this main
issue.
Living Conditions
26. The appeal site is located adjacent to the boundary with 98 and 98a Grove
Lane. No 98a is a residential property with an extensive garden, although No
98 was in a commercial use at the time of my visit. Due to the layout of the
proposal, the proposed building would not face directly towards the buildings of
Nos 98 and 98a. However, the building would face onto the garden area of 98a
and, due to the relative height of the proposal, would enable a view into this
garden area.
27. The Council’s Neighbourhoods for Living Supplementary Planning Document
2003 (NFL) refers to a minimum separation distance between the elevations of
a building and the boundary of up to 10.5m. With a separation distance to the
boundary of No 98a of approximately 15m, the proposed building would exceed
this guideline.
28. However, the NFL emphasises that additional distances may be required for
unconventional situations. Due to the scale of the proposal and the relationship
with No 98a, the consideration of the particular circumstances of this site is
appropriate. The Council refers to an additional 3m separation distance per
floor, which would give a separation distance of 18m, and whilst this may not
be a statutory measure, it is useful as an informal guide. The proposal would
not comply with this increased separation distance.
29. However, the garden of 98a is extensive compared to a typical suburban
garden. The proposed building has also been designed so that the great
majority of windows on the upper floors serve bedrooms, which are of a
secondary aspect within the terms of the NFL. A degree of screening is also
provided by trees on the boundary, although their retention cannot be relied
upon in the longer term. Viewed objectively and in context, whilst the proposal
would enable views of the garden area of No 98a, due to the separation
distance as well as the design and layout of the properties I do not consider
that this would lead to a loss of privacy that would warrant the refusal of
planning permission, even allowing for the number of windows on the proposal.
30. Evidence has also been provided in respect to potential loss of light to No 98a,
particularly in the morning. However, a degree of overshadowing is not unusual
in suburban areas, even allowing for the landscaped setting of No 98a. The
garden would continue to receive direct sunlight from the late morning
onwards, and would also receive an appropriate degree of indirect daylight.
Despite the scale of the proposal, I consider that it would not lead to an
unacceptable loss of sunlight and daylight to the garden of No 98a due to the
relative arrangement of the properties, including separation distance. Similarly,
whilst the proposal would be visible from No 98a, it would not have an
unacceptably overbearing relationship with regards to outlook.
31. Reference has also been made to the effect on the living conditions of residents
of Boothroyd Drive and the Grove Park Care Home. However, due to the
relationship of the appeal proposal to these properties, including consideration

5

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 32

8

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

of separation distances and site levels, the proposal would not have an
unacceptable impact on privacy, outlook or light.
32. I therefore conclude that the proposal would not lead to unacceptable harm to
the living conditions of nearby residents, and in particular residents of No 98a,
in respect of privacy, outlook or light. The proposal would therefore not conflict
with the amenity requirements of policies GP5 and BD5 of the UDPR or policy
P10 of the Core Strategy. The proposal would also not conflict with the
Framework with regards to achieving well-designed places with a high standard
of amenity for existing and future users. The proposal would also not be
contrary to the design guidance of the NFL, particularly with regards to privacy
and intrusion.
Supply of Housing
33. The proposal would provide 58 new dwellings on an unallocated site, and the
Council Officer’s report indicates that it would make a significant contribution
towards the windfall element of the Council’s 5 year housing land supply.
34. The proposal would also be a significant contribution towards meeting a need
for older person’s specialist provision identified in the Council’s Strategic
Housing Market Assessment 2017. Due to the location of the site, it would
provide convenient access to public transport and local facilities, and would
comply with policy H8 of the Core Strategy with regards to housing for
independent living. The proposal would also provide 9 units of affordable
accommodation in accordance with policy H5 of the Core Strategy; and would
also include a mix of dwelling sizes in response to policy H4 of the Core
Strategy.
35. Reference has been made to demand for this form of housing in other
schemes. However, this evidence is anecdotal compared to the substantive
evidence provided by the appellants in respect of need.
36. Taken together, these benefits carry substantial weight in favour of the
proposal, particularly due to the supply of specialist accommodation and the
provision of affordable housing. The proposal would comply with policies H4,
H5 and H8 of the Core Strategy in respect of housing mix, affordability and
housing for independent living. The proposal would also meet the requirements
of the Framework which seeks to support the Government’s objective of
significantly boosting the supply of homes and addressing the needs of groups
with specific housing requirements.
Other Matters
37. The proposal would have economic benefits during construction, although this
would be for a limited period of time even allowing for the scale of the
development. It is estimated that the scheme would provide 3 full-time jobs in
respect of site maintenance and services, and given the low number of jobs
this carries limited weight in favour of the proposal. Residents are also likely to
support local services, and given the scale of the development this carries
moderate weight as a benefit.
38. In respect of car parking, the proposal would result in the loss of 3 parking
spaces which currently serve the Grove Park Care Home. However, the
evidence suggests that these parking spaces were not a requirement of the
planning approval of the Care Home as built, and there would therefore be no
6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 33

9

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

displacement of approved parking spaces. In respect of parking provision
within for the appeal proposal, the Council’s Highways Team does not object to
the number of parking spaces given the type of occupation. On that basis, and
given the convenient access to public transport from the site which would
reduce reliance on the private car, I conclude that the proposal would make
suitable provision for car parking.
39. The site contains a number of trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order.
However the appellant has provided evidence (including Arboricultural Impact
Assessments) which shows how existing trees will be retained. The protection
of trees and the provision of landscaping can also be addressed through
planning conditions.
Planning Obligation and Conditions
40. A signed and completed Planning Obligation under Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 in respect of affordable housing as well as
contributions to public open space and bus shelter upgrades has been
submitted in support of the proposal. The public open space contribution
includes provision for improvements and maintenance for off-site provision as
well as improvements to a public right of way to the south of the site. In
respect of affordable housing and the public open space contribution, the
Obligation meets the tests set out in paragraph 57 of the Framework, and I
have proceeded to determine this appeal giving due consideration to those
parts of the Obligation.
41. With regards to the contribution to bus shelter upgrades, the appellant has
queried the amount specified by the Council which relates to the upgrade of
two bus shelters. The appellant submits that only one upgrade is required, as
the nearest west-bound bus shelter to the appeal site has recently been
upgraded. This reflects my own observations. On that basis, I conclude that it
is only the part of the contribution relating to a single bus shelter upgrade that
meets the tests set out in paragraph 57 of the Framework, and whilst I have
had regard to it accordingly I have not taken account of the remaining part of
the contribution.
42. Regarding conditions, in addition to the standard 3 year time limitation for
commencement, I have imposed a condition requiring the development to be
carried out in accordance with the submitted plans in the interests of certainty.
In the suggested conditions, the Council has not specified the plans it considers
should form the basis of a planning approval. I have therefore taken the plans
from a list provided by the appellants, with some amendments in the interests
of clarity. The Council has been given the opportunity to comment on this list.
43. The list of plans includes details of a ball-stop fence2 to be erected between the
appeal site and an adjacent rugby pitch. Two versions of the plan have been
provided, one specifying a height of 8m (Rev C), and another of 15m (Rev D).
The higher fence reflects the comments of Sport England, who consider that
this height is required based on a preference expressed by the Rugby Football
League (RFL). However, the appellants have provided detailed evidence that an
8m high fence would mitigate the risk of rugby ball strikes affecting the
proposal, which is based on a worst-case scenario of the pitch being used by a
professional rugby player. Whilst the RFL and Sport England have expressed a
2

2017-147_P103_Proposed Eastern Boundary Treatment_A0

7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 34

10

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

preference for a higher fence, they have provided no substantive evidence to
demonstrate that the appellants’ evidence is incorrect. I am also mindful of the
visual impact of a higher fence and the effect on the outlook of residents of the
proposal. On the basis of the evidence before me, I conclude that a ball-stop
fence of 8m high would be appropriate, and this is reflected in the list of
approved plans.
44. A condition in respect of materials is appropriate in the interests of character
and appearance.
45. A condition requiring an updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment is required
to minimise impact on existing trees and vegetation in the interests of
biodiversity. The submission of a detailed landscaping scheme is required in the
interests of biodiversity, character and appearance, and the living conditions of
residents. I have amended the landscaping condition to refer to the relationship
between proposed trees and sewer easements. All of these details should be
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority at the precommencement stage as they relate to matters which need to be established
before the commencement of building operations.
46. The submission of a public right of way management plan is required in the
interest of the maintenance and enhancement of rights of way.
47. The submission for approval of Management Plans, details of external lighting
and invasive species remediation are required in the interests of biodiversity.
Details of cycle/motorcycle parking and facilities are required in the interests of
highway safety and the promotion of sustainable transport. All of these details
should be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority at the
pre-commencement stage as they relate to matters which need to be
established before the commencement of building operations.
48. Conditions relating to electric vehicle charging points and car club parking are
required in the interests of sustainable transport. A condition controlling the
phasing, drainage and retention of areas to be used by vehicles is required in
the interests of highway safety.
49. Details of access, storage, parking, loading and unloading of all contractors'
plant, equipment, materials and vehicles are required in the interests of
highway safety. A condition requiring the submission and phasing of
Statements of Construction Practice are necessary in the interests of highway
safety and the living conditions of residents in the area. Details of drainage,
including during site works, is necessary to ensure that the site is appropriately
drained and to address potential contamination of nearby watercourses. The
Council has suggested a condition requiring the submission of a Phase II Site
Investigation Report. However, such a report has been submitted to the
Council, and the comments on this from the Council’s Contaminated Land Team
refer to the submission of a Remediation Statement. I have worded the
condition accordingly. To ensure that matters of land contamination are
appropriately addressed. All of these details should be submitted to and
approved by the local planning authority at the pre-commencement stage as
they relate to matters which need to be established before the commencement
of building operations.
50. A condition requiring a sustainable drainage management and maintenance
plan is required to ensure that the site is properly and sustainably drained.
8

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 35

11

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

51. Conditions in respect of the implementation of the Remediation Statement,
including if significant unexpected contamination is encountered, and the
importation of materials are necessary to ensure that matters of land
contamination are appropriately addressed
52. A condition in relation to the implementation of ball strike fencing is required in
the interests of the living conditions and safety of residents, as well as the
retention of nearby sports facilities. Exceptionally, the removal of permitted
development rights for gates at the main entrance point is necessary in the
interests of highway safety.
53. An occupancy condition restriction limiting occupation of the dwellings to those
aged 55 and over is necessary to restrict occupancy in line with the scheme as
proposed, and as this is a significant benefit which I have considered in the
overall planning balance.
54. A condition requiring details of bat roosting and bird nesting features is
appropriate in the interests of biodiversity. These details should be submitted
to and approved by the local planning authority at the pre-commencement
stage as they relate to matters which need to be established before the
commencement of building operations.
55. In respect of conditions 4, 5, 6, 7 and 17, the appellants have commented that
these details have been submitted to the Council and that these conditions are
therefore not necessary. However, the Council has not confirmed that the
submitted details address its concerns on the relevant issues raised by the
proposal. On that basis, I consider that these conditions are necessary so that
the matters can be appropriately addressed. If the details that have been
submitted meet the Council’s requirements, then this can be addressed as part
of discharging the conditions. More specifically in relation to condition 6, whilst
the Planning Obligation includes a contribution to improvements to the public
right of way (PROW), the details required by the condition could clarify these
improvements. In relation to condition 17, I have used the wording as
suggested by the appellants.
Planning Balance and Conclusion
56. Drawing the above together, I have found that the proposal would conflict with
some policies of the development plan due to the moderate harm arising to
views of the important landscape beyond the site. However, that moderate
harm would be outweighed by the substantial benefits arising in respect of
housing supply, and in particular the significant contribution towards meeting
an identified specialist housing need and affordable housing, in accordance with
development plan policies and the Framework. There are also more limited
benefits including the provision of a publicly accessible pocket park, public right
of way improvements, an increase in biodiversity, employment and support for
local services.
57. In this case, the substantial weight that I afford to the benefits of this proposal
outweighs the moderate weight that I attribute to the conflict with specified
policies in the development plan for the area. Consequently, and on balance, I
conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

David Cross

INSPECTOR

9

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 36

12

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

Schedule of Conditions
1)

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years
from the date of this decision.

2)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans:
2017-147_P100_Site Location Plan_A3_Rev
ASS 2063 Topographic Survey October 2016
2017_147_P210_Proposed Elevation East (Block A)_A1_RevB 19-032020
2017_147_P211_Proposed Elevation West (Block A)_A1_RevA 19-032020
2017_147_P212_Proposed Elevation South (Block A & B)_A1_RevB 1903-2020
2017_147_P213_Proposed Elevation North (Block A & B)_A1_RevA 1903-2020
2017_147_P214_Proposed Elevation East (Block B)_A1_RevA 19-032020
2017_147_P215_Proposed Elevation West (Block B)_A1_RevB 19-032020
2017-147_P101_Existing Site Plan_A0_Rev 02-08-2019
2017-147_P102_Proposed Site Plan_A0_Rev G 22-07-2020
2017-147_P103_Proposed Eastern Boundary Treatment_A0_RevC 1903-2020
2017-147_P200_Proposed Lower Ground Floor Plan_A0_RevC 19-032020
2017-147_P201_Proposed Ground Floor Plan_A0_RevC 19-03-2020
2017-147_P202_Proposed First Floor Plan_A0_RevB 19-03-2020
2017-147_P203_Proposed Second Floor Plan_A0_RevA 19-03-2020
2017-147_P204_Proposed Roof Plan_A0_RevA 19-03-2020
2017-147_P300_Proposed Site Sections_A0_RevA 19-03-2020
19-68-S3-100-05-Landscape Masterplan 22-07-2020
19-68-S3-300-Planting Strategy 06-12-2019
19-68-S3-101-00-Biodiversity Habitat Plan 10-06-2020

3)

Before development above damp-proof course commences on site,
details and samples of all external walling and roofing materials shall
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Samples shall be made available on site for inspection by the
Local Planning Authority which shall be notified in writing of their
availability. The building works shall be constructed from the materials
thereby approved.

4)

Before site clearance commences there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority an updated
Arboricultural Impact Assessment report to the standards set out in Sec
5.4 of BS5837. The report shall contain recommendations in regards to
tree and vegetation protection and these recommendations shall
thereafter be implemented in accordance with the timescales and
limitations within that report.

5)

The development hereby granted consent shall not be commenced until
there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
10

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 37

13

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

planning authority a detailed landscaping scheme that shall contain
details relating to:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

The protection of the RPA of T34 and T2/3.
Retaining wall details near to T1.
Green roof planting methods.
Irrigation details.
Safe access, including the needs of older people and people
with disabilities.
f. The location of proposed trees relative to and outside of the two
public sewer easements crossing the site
The details to be submitted shall include a landscape management plan
and any such approved details shall be implemented in accordance with
that approval and thereafter maintained.
6)

Before the development is occupied there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing a detailed management plan relating to the
improvement and future maintenance of the PROW running along the
southern boundary of the application site. Any approved details shall be
implemented in full within 6 months of first occupation of the
development hereby approved or in accordance with a timescale agreed
in writing by the local planning authority, and thereafter maintained for
the lifetime of the development.

7)

Before the development hereby granted consent is commenced there
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority:
a. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP:
Biodiversity).
b. A Biodiversity Enhancement & Management Plan (BEMP).
c. Enhancements of retained features through the BEMP.
d. Details of any external lighting schemes on the southern and
western boundaries.
e. An invasive species remediation plan.
Any such approved details shall be implemented in accordance with those
approved details and any recommendations within CEMP and BEMP be
adhered to during construction and for the recommended time periods in
those reports.

8)

Notwithstanding the approved details, before development is commenced
full details of cycle/motorcycle parking and facilities shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall not be occupied until the approved cycle/motorcycle
parking and facilities have been provided. The facilities shall thereafter be
retained for the lifetime of the development.

9)

Before the development hereby granted consent is first occupied there
shall be submitted to and approved in writing details of Electric Vehicle
Charging Points. The development shall not be occupied until the
approved details have been implemented in full, and they shall thereafter
be retained for the lifetime of the development.

10)

Before the development is first occupied details of the Car Club parking
bay shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Any approved details shall be implemented in accordance with
11

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 38

14

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

those approved details and thereafter maintained for the lifetime for the
development.
11)

Development shall not be occupied until all areas shown on the approved
plans to be used by vehicles have been fully laid out, surfaced and
drained such that surface water does not discharge or transfer onto the
highway. These areas shall not be used for any other purpose thereafter.

12)

Development shall not commence until details of access, storage,
parking, loading and unloading of all contractors' plant, equipment,
materials and vehicles (including workforce parking) have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
facilities shall be provided for the duration of construction works.

13)

No works shall begin on the relevant phase of development until a
Statement of Construction Practice for that phase has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Statement
of Construction Practice shall include full details of:
a. the methods to be employed to prevent mud, grit and dirt being
carried onto the public highway from the development hereby
approved;
b. measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during
construction;
c. location of site compound and plant equipment/storage; and
d. how this Statement of Construction Practice will be made
publicly available by the developer.
The approved details shall be implemented at the commencement of
work on site, and shall thereafter be retained and employed until
completion of works on site. The Statement of Construction Practice shall
be made publicly available for the lifetime of the construction phase of
the development in accordance with the approved method of publicity.

14)

Development shall not commence until a drainage scheme (i.e. drainage
drawings, summary calculations and investigations) detailing the surface
water drainage works as well as arrangements for its future maintenance
(e.g. adoption by the Water Company) have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The maximum rate
of discharge, off-site, shall not exceed 4 l/s, unless otherwise agreed with
the LPA. The works shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved scheme before the development is brought into use, or as set
out in the approved phasing details.

15)

No development shall be brought into use/occupied until a SUDS
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development,
including arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory
undertaker or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the
scheme, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

16)

Development shall not commence until details and a method statement
for interim drainage measures during site works have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The method
statement should include provisions to protect and ensure the protection
of the boundary watercourse from pollution during construction works.

12

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 39

15

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

The site works and construction phase shall thereafter be carried out in
accordance with approved method statement.
17)

Development shall not commence until a Remediation Statement
demonstrating how the site will be made suitable for the intended use
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning
Authority. The Remediation Statement shall include a programme for all
works and for the provision of Verification Reports.”

18)

If remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved
Remediation Statement, or where significant unexpected contamination is
encountered, the Local Planning Authority shall be notified in writing
immediately and operations on the affected part of the site shall cease.
An amended or new Remediation Statement shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to any further
remediation works which shall thereafter be carried out in accordance
with the revised approved Statement.

19)

Remediation works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
Remediation Statement. On completion of those works, the Verification
Report(s) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority in
accordance with the approved programme. The site or phase of a site
shall not be brought into use until such time as all verification information
has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
To ensure that the remediation works are fully implemented as agreed
and the site has been demonstrated to be suitable for use.

20)

Any soil or soil forming materials brought to site for use in garden areas,
soft landscaping, public open space or for filling and level raising shall be
tested for contamination and suitability for use. A methodology for
testing these soils shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority prior to these materials being imported onto
site. The methodology shall include information on the source of the
materials, sampling frequency, testing schedules and criteria against
which the analytical results will be assessed (as determined by risk
assessment). Testing shall then be carried out in accordance with the
approved methodology. Relevant evidence and verification information
(for example, laboratory certificates) shall be submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to these materials being
imported onto the site.

21)

Before the development hereby granted consent is first occupied, the ball
strike fencing along the eastern boundary shall be erected in accordance
with the approved plan 2017-147_P103_Proposed Eastern Boundary
Treatment_A0_RevC 19-03-2020. This ball strike fencing shall be
retained and maintained for the lifetime of the development unless there
has been submitted to and approved in writing an application for planning
permission for its alteration.

22)

Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A (Gates Walls and Fences), Part
2 of Schedule 2 of the General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as
amended), no gates shall be erected at the main entrance point off Grove
Lane unless there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority an application for Planning Permission.

13

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 40

16

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

23)

Each dwelling of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
only by:
a. persons of the age of 55 or over;
b. persons living as part of a single household with such a person
or persons;
c. persons who were living as part of a single household with such
a person or persons occupying the development who have since
died.

24)

Prior to the commencement of development, a Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority of integral bat
roosting and bird nesting features (for species such as House Sparrow
and Swift) within buildings. The agreed Plan shall show the number,
specification of the bird nesting and bat roosting features and where they
will be located, together with a timetable for implementation and
commitment to being installed under the instruction of an appropriately
qualified bat consultant. All approved features shall be installed prior to
first occupation of the dwelling on which they are located and retained
thereafter.
End of Schedule

14

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 41

17

Costs Decision
Site visit made on 19 May 2021
by David Cross BA(Hons) PgDip(Dist) TechIOA MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 13 December 2021

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/N4720/W/21/3267996
Land Adjacent to Grove Park Care Home, Grove Lane, Leeds LS6 2BG
•
•
•

The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78,
322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5).
The application is made by Mr S Foster of Roseville (The Paddock) Limited for a full
award of costs against Leeds City Council.
The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for 58 no apartments for
retirement/lifestyle living exclusively for residents of age 55+, associated communal
spaces, access Grove Lane and new landscaping.

Decision
1. The application for an award of costs is refused.
Reasons
2. The Planning Practice Guidance (the Guidance) advises that costs may be
awarded against a party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused
the party applying for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the
appeal process.
3. The Council has not responded to the appellants’ costs application. However I
consider that I have enough evidence on which to reach a conclusion on this
application.
4. The appellants submit that the Council has behaved unreasonably in a number
of respects.
5. In respect of reason for refusal 1, the appellant submits that the Council has
refused permission on an erroneous assumption in respect of separation
distances and the effect on privacy, and has failed to substantiate this.
However, notwithstanding any advice on separation distances, there is a
subjective element to the consideration of overlooking and privacy. This is
particularly so in respect of the appeal proposal, which includes a building of a
significant scale located in the vicinity of an existing residential property. Whilst
I have concluded that the proposal would not lead to unacceptable harm in
respect of the privacy of nearby residents, I do not consider that the council’s
consideration of this issue is so without foundation or substantiation as to
represent unreasonable behaviour.
6. With regards to reason for refusal 2, the appellant considers that the Council
failed to recognise that the site had been deleted as proposed Green Space on
the adoption of the Site Allocations Plan 2019. However, the site is within an
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 42

18

Costs Decision APP/N4720/W/21/3267996

Urban Green Corridor designated by the Unitary Development Plan Review
2006 (UDPR). Policy N8 of the UDPR emphasises the visual amenity function of
Green Corridors, and I consider that the appellants contention that the site has
no public amenity value is without merit.
7. The appellant also submits that the development plan does not protect specific
viewpoints and that there is no ‘right to a view’. However, the visual linkages
between areas can be an important consideration of visual amenity, particularly
when assessing the links between built-up areas and green infrastructure and
the public benefits arising from that. Indeed, in my Appeal Decision I have
concluded that the appeal proposal would lead to moderate harm on that issue,
and I therefore cannot conclude that the Council has behaved unreasonably on
this matter.
8. I therefore conclude that for the reasons set out above, unreasonable
behaviour resulting in unnecessary or wasted expense during the appeal
process has not been demonstrated. For this reason, and having regard to all
other matters raised, an award for costs is not justified.

David Cross
INSPECTOR

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 43

19

19/04950/FU

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 44

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/1500

20

°

Contractor must verify all dimensions,levels and existing service alignments on
site before commencing any work or shop drawings.
Any discrepancy concerning the drawings/quantities should be referred to the
Landscape Architect immediately.
Only figured dimensions to be taken from this drawing. Do not scale off this
drawing.
All landscape drawings to be read in conjunction with the landscape
specification and all relevant engineer's and architect's drawings/specifications.
This drawing is Copyright and must not be reproduced without consent of
LAAND.

57.75

EXISTING
PARKING

POCKET PARK
58.80

ENTRANCE
PATH

58.50

57.50
57.600

57.0

SHARED
SURFACE

57.550
56.650

56.1

WOODLAND
GLADE

56.950
56.700

56.950

55.1

VISITOR
PARKING

56.950
57.950

55.0

SERVICE
BAY
56.60

56.950

54.5

FEATURE
MOUNDS

56.0 55.55
55.0

54.50

Application Boundary

Page 45

57.950

56.950
54.025

ENTRANCE
FOYER

Proposed Buildings:
Refer to Architects details.

GREEN
ROOF

Existing Trees:
Refer to Tree Survey
Dashed Line = Root Protection Area for further
details (Brooks Ecology AR-3740-01)

54.025

54.0

PV ZONE
54.0

PV ZONE

HARDWORKS
Surfaces and Finishes
Yorkstone Paving:
Random sized sawn yorkstone laid in
courses parallel to building facade.

Resin Bound Gravel:
6mm buff aggregate porous paving

WOODLAND
WALK

56.950

COMMUNAL
ROOF TERRACE

Shared Surface
Porous concrete aggregate paving

Brick Paving:
Clay brick paviors in herringbone
pattern

ROOF
TERRACE

Wall:
Brick entrance feature wall 1.2m high
with stone plaque
54.07

54.025

RESIDENT
GARDENS

Boundary Fence:
Min. 1.8m high timber close boarded
fence

03

29/11/19

Amendments to highways and footpaths

AN

AN

02

01/07/19

Issued for Planning

AN

AN

01

16/04/19

Minor amendments to highways

AN

AN

PLANNING
SOFTWORKS
Proposed Tree:
3-6m high ornamental and native
specimens to provide year round
interest.

PRIVATE
TERRACE

Ornamental Planting:
Mix of Herbaceous perennials, grasses
and shrub planting in large swathes.
Woodland planting:
Mix of Herbaceous and evergreen
ground cover plants with seasonal bulbs
Hedge:
Hornbeam hedge defines frontage

Roseville
Grove Lane Residential Development

Lawn:
Robust ornamental lawn with areas of
wildflowers and bulbs to improve
biodiversity

53.0

Landscape Layout Plan
LEVELS
52.0

51.0

.30

31

3

1
1.4

Existing Levels
1:250 @ A1

AN

28/03/2019

AN

28/03/2019

Proposed Levels

19-68-S3-100
©

03
LAAND | Duke Studios | 3 Sheaf St | Leeds | LS10 1HD

21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Originator: Jessica Thomas

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
10th February 2022
Subject: 21/08219/FU – Single storey side extension at The Lodge, Newsam Green
Road, Newsam Green, LS26 8AG
APPLICANT
Mr S Fox

DATE VALID
22nd October 2021

TARGET DATE
TBA

Electoral Wards Affected:

Specific Implications For:

Garforth and Swillington

Equality and Diversity

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

Yes

Community Cohesion
Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:
Conditions
1.
2.
3.

Time limit
Approved Plans
Materials to be agreed (including window materials)

Directions
4.

Development cannot commence prior to the receipt of listed building consent

INTRODUCTION:
1.

This application is for the construction of a single storey side extension which will
meet the identified needs of a family member. For reasons relating to data protection
and safeguarding issues these identified needs are set out in a separate, confidential
report (see appendix 1).

Page 47

2.

The development is inappropriate within the Green Belt and also affects the character
of a Grade II listed building, as well as the setting of the Grade II* listed Leventhorpe
Hall. As such the issues raised by the development are of greater than local
significance, and a criterion of the Officer Delegation Scheme is therefore met. It is
therefore appropriate to report the application to Plans Panel for determination. No
corresponding Listed Building application for the alterations has been submitted.

3.

A similar scheme was proposed four years ago under application 17/06313/LI, where
a single storey side extension would have formed an extended kitchen. No
corresponding full application was proposed. Although acceptable in respect of its
heritage impacts, the application was ultimately withdrawn as officers advised a full
planning application would not be supported as it would be inappropriate
development within the Green Belt.

4.

The current proposal is also inappropriate development within the Green Belt.
However, set out in the accompanying report, the supporting information submitted
in relation to a family member’s needs is considered to amount to the necessary very
special circumstances. Approval is thus recommended.
PROPOSAL:

5.

The application seeks permission to construct a single storey side extension. This
will be set to the rear of an existing link-detached addition and measures 3.8m in
width by 3.2m in depth, with a gabled roof. An existing side window is to be blocked
up and new side and rear windows inserted. The extension would be constructed of
matching materials.
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

6.

The application relates to a Grade II listed lodge house, set at the entrance to
Leventhorpe Hall from Newsam Green Road. The property dates from the mid-19th
century (1860) and is constructed from ashlar sandstone with a slate roof. The
dwelling is heavily articulated, with a deep soffit depth and decorative bargeboard,
stone window surrounds, projecting stone cill and six pane, wooden sliding sash
windows.
The property also benefits from a neoclassical portico to its south
elevation.

7.

The property originally had a modest L-shaped form (identified as the lounge, dining
room and bedrooms two and three on the plans), with a simple cross gabled roof
form. The house has been substantially extended to the side and rear and now
includes two secondary side gables, a link-detached side extension, conservatory to
the rear and garden outbuilding(s).

8.

The property is sited at the northernmost entrance to Leventhorpe Hall, and clearly
designed as a lodge house to the grander dwelling. The hall itself is Grade II* listed,
and is a John Carr, late 18th Century, Palladian design. Ancillary buildings within the
grounds (some of which are also listed) have largely been converted to private
dwellings and/or holiday lets. The gate piers that lie to the front of the dwelling mark
the estate entrance and are separately Grade II listed. The most decorative elements
of the lodge house front the access road to the hall; a further track is set to the north
providing access to a large agricultural building.

9.

The dwelling is sited within the Green Belt, with the residential estate of Leventhopre
Hall to the west and agricultural land to all other sides. Swillington and Oulton
Page 48

villages lie approximately half a mile to the east and south respectively. A public
footpath runs west along the fields to the east terminating on Newsam Green Road.
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:
10.

17/06313/LI

Listed building application for a single storey extension, internal
alterations, demolish and rebuild existing wall
Withdrawn - officer concerns relating to a full application being
inappropriate development within the Green Belt
2017

33/309/04/FU

Single storey side extension
Refused – harmful impact upon character
2004

33/310/04/LI

Listed building application for a single storey side extension
Refused – harmful impact upon character
2004

33/110/00/FU

Single storey extension conservatory and detached garage to
rear
Approved
2000

33/109/00/LI

Listed building application for single
conservatory and detached garage to rear
Approved
2000

33/147/99/LI

Listed building application for addition of conservatory to rear
Approved

H33/724/80/

Alterations to form bathroom and extension to form kitchen to
detached bungalow.
Approved
1980

H33/1021/78/

Alterations, to form new bathroom, and extension, to form
kitchen with dining area, to side of detached bungalow.
Withdrawn
1978

H33/419/76/

Outline application to erect extension, to detached cottage.
Approved
1976

H33/418/76/

Outline application to demolish existing cottage, and erect new
detached cottage to garden site.
Refused – Impact upon Green Belt
1976

HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:
11.

None
Page 49

storey

extension

PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:
12.

The development has been advertised by Site Notice posted on 15th December 2021
and within the Yorkshire Evening post on 24th December 2021. Letters have also
been sent to the six nearest residential dwellings.

13.

In response, one letter of objection has been received. This notes the modest size
of the lodge and the history of extensions, and raises concerns about the impact
upon the property’s character. Reference is also made to a covenant.

14.

Swillington Parish Council raise no objections.
CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES:

15.

Non-Statutory Consultations
Conservation:

Consider the proposal does not cause harm to heritage
assets.

PLANNING POLICIES:
16.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
planning applications are determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Leeds
currently comprises the Core Strategy (amended 2019), the Site Allocations Plan
(2019), saved policies within the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006)
(included as Appendix 3 of the SAP) and the Natural Resources and Waste
Development Plan Document (2013) (NRWLP), The Aire Valley Area Action Plan
and any made Neighbourhood Plan.
Local Planning Policy

17.

The Core Strategy 2014 (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review 2019)
sets out strategic level policies and vision to guide the delivery of development
investment decisions and the overall future of the district. For the purposes of
decision-making in relation to this application, the following Core Strategy (amended
2019) policies are relevant:
P10
P11

Seeks to ensure that new development is well designed and respect its
context.
Heritage assets

18.

The Site Allocations Plan was adopted in July 2019. Following a statutory challenge,
Policy HG2, so far as it relates to sites which immediately before the adoption of the
SAP were within the green belt, has been remitted to the Secretary of State and is
to be treated as not adopted. All other policies within the SAP remain adopted and
should be afforded full weight. The site is unallocated within the SAP but identified
as Green Belt.

19.

The following saved UDPR policies are also relevant:
GP5
BD5

Seeks to ensure that development proposals resolve detailed planning
considerations, including amenity
Seeks to ensure new development protects amenity
Page 50

BD6
N16
N17
N33
20.

Seeks to ensure that development proposals respect the scale, form and
detail of the original building
Sensitive extensions to listed buildings
Preservation of special interest of listed buildings
Development within the Green Belt

The Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) was adopted by Leeds City
Council on 16th January 2013 and is part of the Local Development Framework. The
Plan sets out where land is needed to enable the City to manage resources, like
trees, minerals, energy, waste and water over the next 15 years, and identifies
specific actions which will help use natural resources in a more efficient way. No
NRWLP policies are relevant.
Neighbourhood Planning

21.

There is no neighborhood plan relevant to the development:
Supplementary Planning Guidance

22.

23.

Householder Design Guide
Policies HDG1 (design), HDG2 (residential amenity) and HDG3 (Green Belt)
National Planning Policy
The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (the Framework) sets out the
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be
applied. The Framework must be taken into account in the preparation of local and
neighbourhood plans and is a material consideration in planning decisions.

24.

The introduction of the Framework has not changed the legal requirement that
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policy
guidance in Annex 1 to the Framework is that due weight should be given to relevant
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. The
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight
that may be given. It is considered that the local planning policies mentioned above
are consistent with the wider aims of the Framework.

25.

The following sections of the Framework are most relevant for the purposes of
determining this application:
•
•
•
•
•

26.

2. Achieving sustainable development;
4. Decision-making;
12. Achieving well-designed places;
13. Protecting Breen Belt land;
16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment.

The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides commentary on the application of
policies within the Framework. The PPG also provides guidance in relation to the
imposition of planning conditions. It sets out that conditions should only be imposed
where they are necessary; relevant to planning and to the development to be
permitted; enforceable; precise; and reasonable in all other respects. The
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 requires that for all applications determined after
Page 51

October 2018 any pre-commencement conditions are agreed in advance with
applicants.
MAIN ISSUES:
1)
2)
3)
4)

Green Belt
Heritage Assets
Neighbouring Amenity
Very Special Circumstances – the Public Sector Equality Duty and The Best
Interests of the Child
Representations
Planning Balance

5)
6)

APPRAISAL:
Green Belt
27.

The property is located within the Green Belt. As outlined within the Framework, the
essential characteristics of Green Belt are their openness and their permanence.
Paragraph 149 of the Framework notes that a local planning authority should regard
the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt, save for the
noted exceptions. Paragraph 150 provides for other development within the Green
Belt (aside from the noted exceptions) that might not be inappropriate, provided they
preserve the openness and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in the
Green Belt.

28.

The main issues in relation to this application are therefore;
(i)

whether the proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the Green
Belt as set out in the Development Plan and having regard to national
policy set out in the Framework. This document advises that inappropriate
development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be
approved except in very special circumstances, and;

(ii)

if it is inappropriate development, whether the harm by reason of
inappropriateness, and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other
considerations, so as to amount to the very special circumstances
necessary to justify the development.

These issues will be discussed in turn.
29.

Local Policy regarding extensions within the Green Belt is within saved policy N33 of
the UDP and HDG3 of the Householder Design which notes that approval will only
be given for the limited extension, alteration or replacement of existing dwellings.
Both policies are broadly in compliance with the Framework (Paragraph 149(c)) as
they seek to control extensions to existing buildings within the Green Belt, and whilst
the wording of both represents the long superseded PPG2, the difference between
‘limited extension’ within HDG3 and ‘not…disproportionate’ with the Framework is
semantic only. As such in accordance with paragraph 219 of the Framework these
policies are afforded full weight.

Page 52

30.

The Framework and UDP provide no guidance on how to interpret what constitutes
not-disproportionate or limited extensions, however the Householder Design Guide
notes that approximately a thirty percent increase over and above the volume of the
original building is generally considered to be a reasonable interpretation of a limited
extension (HDG3). In order to be considered acceptable development within the
Green Belt, extensions should not only be limited but should not conflict with the
fundamental purposes of the Green Belt, nor cause any other harm. These matters
will be addressed in turn.

31.

In order to calculate the percentage increase of the proposed extensions it is first
necessary to establish what is the original building within the definition of the Town
& Country Planning Act 1990. As noted within the site and surroundings (above) the
original dwelling was L-shaped, and this is noted within the listing description. The
floor plans allow this to be easily identified as the current lounge, dining room and
bedrooms two and three. The planning history also suggests the ensuite and
bathroom are formed from an historic store. The plans for the 1980 application show
all other elements of the dwelling are extension.

32.

The agent has provided two sets of volume calculations. The initial set of calculations
concluded the cumulative volume of all existing and proposed extensions
represented a 60% increase on the original dwelling. The agent has subsequently
revised these to suggest a 27% increase. It is unclear how this second figure has
been derived, and officer calculations accord with the 60% figure. This does not
include the existing outbuilding for which no information has been provided.
Assuming modest dimensions for the outbuilding based on observations (7m x 2.5m,
and an eaves and ridge height of 2.0m and 3.0m) this would be an additional 53m3,
and take the total percentage increase to 75%

33.

Thus the proposal represents a cumulative percentage increase which is, at least,
more than twice the 30% threshold. It is accepted that a volumetric assessment,
whilst an extremely useful tool, could be considered a somewhat simplistic
assessment, which applied rigidly could mean a proposal at 29% is acceptable and
one at 31% is not regardless of other relevant site circumstances. However at over
a 60% increase on the original dwelling the application proposal is not a marginal
case and the proposal must be considered to represent a disproportionate addition.
The application therefore does not fall within the exceptions at 149(c) and all the
expected policy consequences flow from this, namely that the proposal is
inappropriate, harmful by definition and substantial weight must be given to this harm.
The application must also not be approved unless other considerations sufficient to
amount to the necessary very special circumstances to clearly outweigh the identified
harm exist.

34.

As noted it is also necessary to address the impact upon openness. The question
of openness has been before the courts on many occasions and is held to be an
open textured concept capable of having both visual and spatial aspects. It is also
the case that the impacts of openness are not limited to public vantage points, and
that openness is best considered as an absence of development.

35.

In and of itself the extension has relatively modest dimensions, however it is attached
to the existing link-detached side extension, and has been designed in such a
manner that would be visibly wider than this element of the property, and projects
into currently open areas of the site. There is thus both visual and spatial harm to
openness. This said, the extension does sit within the defined curtilage of an existing
residential dwelling, and does not have a significant impact upon wider long range
Page 53

views and thus the harm the openness is considered to be modest only. However,
as with any harm to the Green Belt (Framework paragraph 148) substantial weight
must be given to this identified harm.
36.

The application is thus inappropriate by definition with further harm to openness
identified, and as directed by the Framework the development cannot be approved
unless there are other considerations, sufficient to clearly outweigh all cumulative
harm. As will be outlined below the needs of a family member have been identified.
This matter is discussed in further detail within the accompanying confidential report,
with a brief summary provided in paragraphs 47 to 56 below. The balance of all
relevant factors is undertaken within the final conclusion of this report.
Preservation of Heritage Assets and Visual Amenity

37.

Listed Building: Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 states that, in considering whether to grant listed building consent
for any works, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or
historic interest which it possesses. In a policy context this special regard is
addressed by section 16 of the Framework which requires that the impact of
development upon a heritage asset be accurately assessed, and if harm is identified
that there are public benefits to outweigh that harm (199-202), whilst policies P10
and P11 of the Core Strategy seek to protect heritage assets and visual amenity.
Further detailed policies relating to the retention of features within Listed Buildings
are saved from the UDP Review (2006). Section 12 of the Framework is also
relevant.

38.

As noted at paragraph 12 (above), the one letter of representation received notes
the existing extensions to the dwellinghouse along with its listed status, and suggests
further additions would be harmful. However, it is a long established principle that
change and extension cannot be considered harmful as an a-priori fact, and indeed
the Framework recognises this by only requiring public benefits in the event harm is
identified.

39.

The character of dwelling is derived from several factors which combine to produce
its special interest. It has associative interest through its connection to Leventhorpe
Hall, with its siting and scale contributing to appearance as a lodge dwelling. It also
has obvious architectural interest which is derived from its shape, form, materials
and deliberately ornate articulation.

40.

The original scale and form of the dwelling has already been severely diluted, with
its L-shaped plan form no longer discernible, and the property extended to the point
that the additions are disproportionate to the original dwelling. The simplicity of its
cross-gabled form has given way to a melange of additions, which create their own
visual interest, and through which the history of the property can be discerned from
its physical form.

41.

The extension which is proposed is sited to the north of the property, away from its
largely unaltered and primary southern elevation. It is reasonably modest in scale
and set to the rear of the existing link-detached bathroom additions, continuing the
gable of this extension. Thus from the majority of public points of view the extension
is read as visually separate from the main body of the dwelling and is considered in
keeping with the gradual accretion of additions over time. It is thus considered that
the siting, scale and design of the extension have a neutral impact upon the special
interest of the heritage asset.
Page 54

42.

The proposal also has the ability to harmfully affect the setting of Leventhorpe Hall,
and here the key element to be protected is the relationship between the two
buildings. The southern elevation of the application property is the most critical in
this regard, facing onto the access driveway and containing the neo-classical portico
which references the Palladian nature of Carr’s design for the Hall. This elevation
remains unaffected, directly or indirectly, and extension does not harmfully increase
the scale of the dwelling. It will still clearly be an ancillary lodge to a larger estate
house, and as such the associative interest of the building is unharmed, a matter
confirmed by conservation officers. As no harm has been identified to either the
application dwelling or the wider Leventhorpe Hall estate, the tests within the
Framework which require public benefits to be identified in the event of harm are not
engaged.

43.

It is noted that the current application is not accompanied by a listed building
application, and there are likely to be matters of fine detail which would need to be
resolved under such a submission. For instance, the blocking up of the existing
opening, 1:20 details of the proposed windows, jointing details for materials etc.
Whilst the lack of this information is regrettable, it is nonetheless the case that the
current extension could not be constructed without securing a further consent, and it
is appropriate for such detailed matters to be addressed as part of any future
submission. The current application is sufficient to conclude the proposal does not
cause harm to a heritage asset in respect of its siting, scale, form and broad design,
and thus there is no conflict with national or local policies in this regard.

44.

It is also necessary to consider the visual impact of the extension within its wider
context. Although the extension is appended to an existing addition, overall it does
not appear harmfully scaled or discordant in visual terms. The dwelling will still
appear as a small, historic lodge house set within a semi-rural context. As such the
extension will not cause harm to the visual amenity of the wider area.
Neighbouring Amenity

45.

Core Strategy Policy P10 and saved UDP Policy GP5 require that development
should protect amenity whilst Policy BD5 requires that “all new buildings should be
designed with consideration given to both their own amenity and that of their
surroundings”. This means that the development must provide a reasonable
standard of amenity for future occupants, whilst also protecting the amenity of
surrounding residents.

46.

As will be explored further below the extension has been designed to meet the needs
of an individual with complex needs, and thus there are no concerns in relation to the
amenity of future occupants. There are no near neighbours, with the closest
residential property situated some 150m distant, and thus there are no concerns in
relation to neighbouring amenity. As such, the proposal accords with policies
designed to protect residential amenity.
Very Special Circumstances - Public Sector Equality and The Best Interests of the
Child

47.

The question of what constitutes very special circumstances is almost impossible to
define, as these will always be unique to a case, and in most circumstances there
will be a range of factors which feed into an overall balancing exercise. Appeal
decisions over a number of years have established that the concept of ‘very special’
does not equate to the exceptional or rare, however it is also the case that general,
Page 55

usual or routine circumstances, including normal planning considerations will rarely
be considered to amount to very special circumstances. Personal circumstances
could be considered very special, as these will almost always been unique to a case,
however it is rare that personal circumstances are given significant weight in planning
decisions. Indeed, the majority of householder applications are underpinned by a
personal need of the applicant (eg a playroom for growing children or a bedroom for
a dependent relative), and were anything other than very modest weight attributed to
personal benefits then almost all householder applications would be approved, as
the benefit to the applicant would outweigh other identified harms.
48.

Whilst this is noted, it is considered the circumstances which underpin the current
application, as set out in the accompanying confidential report, can be given very
substantial weight. The application is accompanied by supporting information which
identifies that the extension is required to meet the needs of a family member who
has a protected characteristic under the Equality Act 2010. As children also reside
with the property the proposal calls into consideration the United Nations
Commission on the Rights of the Child.
Public Sector Equality Duty

49.

50.

In determining the planning application, the Council has to comply with the public
sector equality duty. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out the Public Sector
Equality Duty whereby a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions (which
includes planning) have due regard to the need to –
a)

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
prohibited by the Act.

b)

Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristics and persons who do not share it;

c)

Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

With regard to b) above due regard must be given to the need to:
a)

Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;

b)

Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not
share it;

c)

Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by
such persons is disproportionately low.

The relevant protected characteristics include age, disability, gender, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation.
51.

This Public Sector Equality duty is in part supported by policy H10 of the Core
Strategy, which whilst this relates only to new build residential development, is
nonetheless a policy which acknowledges the need to provide accessible and
adaptable dwellings as part of the city's growing housing stock. Whilst there is no
specific Development Plan policy that explicitly supports adaptions to existing
Page 56

dwellings to ensure they are accessible, this is nonetheless a matter that the
Framework highlights at paragraph 62, noting that the housing needs of all sections
of society should be considered.
52.

The proposed extension provides facilities for a person with a protected
characteristic. The extension is considered to be modest in scale, designed solely
for this purpose alone, and does not include any other extraneous accommodation.
The proposal solely seeks to meet the needs of an individual who is protected under
the Equality Act, and meeting this need is a material consideration to which
significant weight can be given.
The Best Interests of the Child

53.

Article 3(1) of The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child requires that:
In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private
social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative
bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration (author
emphasis).

54.

Stevens v Secretary of State for Communities & Local Government & Anor [2013]
EWHC 792 (Admin) addressed the relationship between this consideration and
planning policy, in particular the balance of this directive and Green Belt policy. The
judgement established that such a directive did not automatically override Green Belt
policy, but in cases where the rights of a child were activated, a decision maker must
have regard to the UNCRC rights, as well as the ECHR right to a private and family
life. The fact the best interests of the child were a primary consideration did not make
them the primary consideration, and relevant planning weight must be assigned
according to the merits of each unique case, and it remained open to the decision
maker to refuse planning permission even if this would adversely affect a child or
family.

55.

As set out within the accompanying report, children are resident within the property.
Due to the specific circumstances of this application, the refusal of planning
permission would have a uniquely disproportionate impact upon the family unit.
These specific circumstances mean refusal of planning permission would not serve
the best interest of a child or children. Meeting the best interests of a child or children
is, in this specific instance, a matter which can carry substantial weight.

56.

Both the Public Sector Equality Duty and the best interests of the child are ‘other
considerations’ which therefore weigh in favour of the application. The final balance
of all material considerations and whether these clearly outweigh the Green Belt
harm is undertaken at the foot of this report.
Representations

57.

All material considerations raised through objections have been discussed above.
Concern has been raised about the presence of a covenant which restricts the ability
to extend dwellings within the Leventhorpe Hall estate. A covenant is not a material
planning consideration, being a private legal agreement to which the council is not a
party. As such this matter cannot carries no weight and cannot be considered in the
overall balance.
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION:
Page 57

58.

The application is inappropriate development within the Green Belt and causes some
modest harm to openness. These harms must be given substantial weight.

59.

The application will not cause harm to visual amenity, heritage assets, or residential
amenity. These are all neutral matters which weigh neither for nor against the
proposal.

60.

The application will meet the needs of person who has a protected characteristic
under the Equality Act; this benefit is given significant weight. The application will
also assist in safeguarding the best interests of a child or children. In these unique
circumstances this benefit is given substantial weight.

61.

The identified significant and substantial benefits are other considerations, which
together, clearly outweigh the identified substantial harm to the Green Belt. The
necessary very special circumstances therefore do exist in this instance and the
application is recommended for approval.

Background Papers:
Application files
Certificate of ownership:

21/08219/FU
Certificate A signed by the agent

Page 58

Pa
th

(u

m

)

33.2m

in

Dra in

Dr
a

50.0m
Dr
a
Pa
th

in

(u

m)

36.6m

NE
A
WS
M
GR
N
EE
RO
AD

37.5m

21/08219/FU

ET

L

Lodge

44.5m

Pond
35.1m

Paddock
Lodge

Trees
33.8m

Susans
Cottage

Clock
Cottage

AD
E N RO
M GRE

The
Retreat

A
NE WS

Stable
Cottage

The Orchards

Trees

Weavers
Lodge

(u

m

Weavers
Cottage

)

Leventhorpe Cottages

Tra
c

1

2

Pa
th

Leventhorpe
Vineyard

k

GP

27.4m

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 59

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/2500

°

Page 60

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (1, 2)

Document is Restricted

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

